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Preface

Conservation Areas

'A Conservation Area is an area of special architectural or historic interest, the character
and appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance.'

(Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990).
The Council is responsible for deciding whether an area should be designated as a Conservation
Area, following extensive research and consultation with people living in and owning property in the

area.

We have a duty to preserve and enhance the character and appearance of each Conservation
Area, under planning laws and our own policies.

The Counci l as a Local Pl anning Authority is requ
preservation and enhancement of any parts of thei
71 of the Act). This Character Appraisal fulfils this statutory duty.

Extra protection

In some cases there is extra Protection for Conservation Areas

An Article 4(1) or 4(2) Direction can give extra protection to certain Conservation Areas. This

means that in these areas even minor alterations, for example constructing a porch, replacing

windows or re-roofing could require planning permission.

For this | evel of protection these Conservation A

and interest.
There is no Article 4 Direction in place at St Mar y 6 s .
Conservation Area Appraisal

The Appraisal is not intended to be comprehensive; the omission of any building, feature or space
should not be taken to imply that it is of no interest.

The Appraisal should be read in conjunction with the adopted South Ribble Borough Local Plan
(Adopted February 2000) Policy 15, National Planning Policy Framework, Central Lancashire Core
Strategy and the emerging Local Plan.



Introduction

St . M@onsgréation Area was designated as a Conservation Area on 4" July 2001.
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St MaSpgcakCharacter and Appearance

The designation of St . Masyas Conservation Area is in recog
importance as the centre of the one of the earliest civilisation in South Ribble centered around St

Mar yo6s c bastle mdite ana site of an old priory, and includes Church Road, Hollinhurst

Avenue and Squires Road.

St . M aGener@lsDescription

St MaQonsénation Area is the largest conservation area in South Ribble, being approximately
11.53 hectares in size.

The area contains five listed buildings including the Church of St Mary (Grade II*). Particular
features of i nterest include St Mar yo6s wichuisac h dat
Scheduled Ancient Monument and the ancient woodland of Church Wood. A conservation area

appraisal was published in February 2001.

St . Maryobés is characterised by its spacious and |
design and style in the properties. Trees line Church Avenue, and were planted to mark Squire

Lawrence Rawstorne in 1864 and the coronation of King George VI in 1937. These trees
contribute significantly to the character and amenity of the area.

The Conservation Area is of special architectural and historic importance.

Penwortham Castle/Castle Motte: Scheduled Ancient Monument

This was the earliest known building in Penwortham and was built between 1068 and 1072. The
Castle is listed as a Scheduled Ancient Monument. It is a motte and bailey castle of possible Pre-
Conquest date, located in the parish churchyard. The motte is now heavily overgrown with trees,
and it is not recognisable as anything other than a small hillock. The bailey is now filled with old
graves. Simple castles of this type had the function of assisting conquest by providing a secure
base or bolthole, and they were usually abandoned soon after conquest had been achieved.

St . Maryds Church: Grade |1 * Listed Bui

Penwortham was one of the ancient parishes of Lancashire. The earliest written record of the
church is from the 1140606s. The original church
14th Century. Although much altered i the chancel being the oldest surviving part of the church.

The tower is 15th Century. The Nave i rebuilt in 1855-56. Many repairs in 1812 and the present
structure is an amalgam of the work of different of different periods.

Penwortham Priory

This was a Benedictine foundation and a daughter house of the great Abbey of Evesham in
Worcestershire. It was founded in the early 1140s. It was small Priory and situated to the south
east of the Church and Castle, on land south of Priory Crescent and west of Hollinhurst Avenue.
There is little information, but the Priory was converted into a private Manor House in 1540s by the
Fleetwood family. The house survived until 1832 when after major alterations in 1815-17 it was
finally rebuilt as a Gothic Mansion with mock battlements and corner terraces. In the late 1920s,
the house was demolished and the site used for speculative housing. The Priory was important as
it left a legacy of land improvement and agricultural management. Its impact on the landscape and
township of Penwortham is evident today and there are traces of how life was in the medieval
period. (Charters and Deeds are kept at Evesham Abbey).



Development of the Settlement

The historical development of Penwortham can be summarised as follows:

1 1086 to medieval times: mainly agricultural land and woodland. The land was drained to
turn the brushwood swamp into damp but rich riverside meadows. Mosses were exploited
for peat, rushes and reeds for thatching materials and rough grazing for livestock.

1 By end of 11th Century: land largely a man-made and man-controlled landscape.
9 Late 11th and 12th Centuries: Penwortham was granted to Warin Bussel, who had large
land holdings in south Lancashire.
T 11406s onwards: Penwortham had a Priory Manor
1 A succession of tenants and farmers lived in the Manor and from the early 16th Century the

tenancy descended into the tenancy of the Farington Family.
1 The Manor went through several hands, and then in 1806 was sold to Colonel Lawrence
Rawstorne of Hutton. The Rawstorne family held the Manor untiithe 192006 s .
The River Ribble: used for fishing and transport.
Up to late 18th Century: The Ribble Salmon Fisheries were an important aspect of the local
economy along with agriculture.
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Important and Significant Buildings

Penwortham Castle/Castle Motte (site of)

Scheduled Ancient Monument: This was the earliest known building in Penwortham and was built
between 1068 and 1072. The Castle is listed as a Scheduled Ancient Monument. It is a motte and
bailey castle of possible Pre-Conquest date, located in the parish churchyard. The motte is now
heavily overgrown with trees, and it is not recognisable as anything other than a small hillock. The
bailey is now filled with old graves. Simple castles of this type had the function of assisting
conquest by providing a secure base or bolthole, and they were usually abandoned soon after
conquest had been achieved. A fairly careful excavation in 1856 revealed at a depth of 11ft. below
the summit of the motte, the boulder pavement, timbers and wattling of what seems to have been a
circular palisaded dwelling divided into several chambers, and erected on a low motte. A broken
central oak post was still standing to a height of 5ft. The problem yet to be solved is whether the
first mound with the remains upon it was the keep of the important little castle known to have been
erected shortly prior to 1086



Castle Motte

St . Maryodéds Church

Grade II* Listed Building: Penwortham was one of the ancient parishes of Lancashire. The earliest
written record of the church is from the 11400s.
Mar yds was hhCentuty. Altmough imueh alteted 1 the chancel being the oldest

surviving part of the church. The tower is 15th Century. The Nave i rebuilt in 1855-56. Many

repairs in 1812 and the present structure is an amalgam of the work of different of different periods.

The Lych gate at the church as built in 1897.



St Mar ybdbs Church
Penwortham Priory (site of)

A Benedictine foundation and a daughter house of the great Abbey of Evesham in Worcestershire.
It was_founded in the early 1140s. It was small Priory and situated to the SE of the Church and
Castle, on land south of Priory Crescent and west of Hollinhurst Avenue. There is little information,
but the Priory was converted into a private Manor House in 1540s by the Fleetwood family. The
house survived until 1832 when after major alterations in 1815-17 it was finally rebuilt as a Gothic
Mansion with mock battlements and corner terraces. In the late 1920s, the house was demolished
and the site used for speculative housing. The Priory was important as it left a legacy of land
improvement and agricultural management. Its impact on the landscape and township of
Penwortham is evident today and there are traces of how life was in the medieval period.

(Charters and Deeds are kept at Evesham Abbey).

Important and Significant Features

Church Wood - Biological Heritage Site

Ancient Woodland: Woodland that survived the medieval clearances survived because the nature

of the ground was unsuitable for agriculture. A contemporary engraving shows that the steep

slope between Church Avenue and the river on the side of Penwortham Hill was wooded in 1728.

It can therefore, be reasonably assumed that the area was wooded for very much longer. The

steep bank has tended to make access difficult and this has enabledt he sl opeds rich st
native plants to survive.

River Ribble

Whilst it is accepted that the river has been navigated and used for trade since Roman times, there

is no evidence that proper wharves were ever constructed on the Penwortham side of the river
adjacent to St. Marybdés Conservation Area. One ma
Penwortham side was millstones, which were brought overland from quarries in east Lancashire

and then shipped to Ireland. There is evidence that boats often anchored at the foot of

Penwortham Hill to shelter from high winds. The river would have been used for transport and

fishing.

Tree Preservation Orders



Many of the trees at the entrance to Kingsway from Liverpool Road and those within the grounds of
numbers 1 and 2 Liverpool Road are protected by Tree Preservation Orders (TPO 1972 No. 1 and
TPO 1991 No.)

Distinctive Local Features

Within the conservation area are a number of local features that give the area a distinct identity.

These features, whichmayrel at e to the areads history or | ocal.i
place. The following features, though small, make
interest.

Decorative stone heads at St. Mar yobs






































































































